ARGUMENT  

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING ALL OF 
APCO’S ATTORNEYS’ FEES PURSUANT TO SECTION 18.5 OF 
THE SUBCONTRACT. 

As noted in APCO’s Opening Brief on its Cross-Appeal, the district court 

awarded only APCO’s attorneys’ fees incurred after APCO made an offer of 

judgment pursuant to NRCP 68—disregarding (though explicitly acknowledging) 

the controlling attorneys’ fee provision in Section 18.5 of the Subcontract.  100-

JA007281.  The district court erred in failing to award APCO all of its requested 

attorneys’ fees under Section 18.5 of the Subcontract.1   APCO is entitled to such 

fees despite the subsequent assignment of the Subcontract to Gemstone and/or 

Camco for several reasons.  First, given that Helix sued APCO for breaching the 

Subcontract, the principle of equitable estoppel warrants applying Section 18.5 to 

APCO’s fee request, which Helix does not contest.  Second, Helix sued APCO for 

alleged breaches of the Subcontract that occurred well before the assignment when 

1 Section 18.5 of the Subcontract provides:  

In the event either party employs an attorney to institute 
a lawsuit or to demand arbitration for any cause arising out 
of the Subcontract Work or the Subcontract, or any of the 
Contract Documents, the prevailing party shall be 
entitled to all costs, attorney’s fees and any other 
reasonable expenses incurred therein.  (Emphasis added) 
35-JA002135. 
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the Subcontract was only in force between Helix and APCO so Section 18.5 applies 

to APCO’s fee claim.  The assignment does not completely eradicate APCO’s ability 

to utilize the Subcontract’s terms (including Section 18.5) in defending against 

Helix’s breach claims.   

A. Helix fails to respond to APCO’s equitable estoppel argument. 

In APCO’s Opening Brief on its Cross-Appeal, APCO argued that equitable 

estoppel prohibited Helix from contesting Section 18.5’s attorneys’ fees provision.  

See APCO’s Combined Answering Brief on Appeal and Opening Brief on Cross-

Appeal at 57–59 (asserting that since Helix alleged the validity of and sought to 

enforce the Subcontract against APCO, Helix should be equitably estopped from 

denying APCO the related benefits when APCO certainly would have been liable 

had it lost).  Helix did not respond to APCO’s equitable estoppel argument in its 

Answering Brief.  As a result of Helix’s failure to respond, it has waived any 

opposition to APCO’s equitable estoppel argument.  See United States v. Dreyer, 

804 F.3d 1266, 1277 (9th Cir. 2015) (“Generally, an appellee waives any argument 

it fails to raise in its answering brief.”).   

Presumably Helix is silent on APCO’s equitable estoppel argument because 

that principle makes sense here.  In fact, one of the cases Helix cites, Oral Roberts 

University v. Anderson, 11 F. Supp. 2d 1336 (N.D. Okla. 1997), enforced an 

attorneys’ fees provision in the parties’ option contract despite the fact that the court 
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held the option contract had expired, which is comparable to Helix’s “assignment” 

argument.  Id. at 1337–39.  The court held such because although the defendant2 had 

lost the right to seek any remedies under the option contract, the defendant still 

sought specific performance and argued that the option had not terminated.  Id. at 

1339.  By prevailing in the litigation, the court held that the plaintiff was entitled to 

recover its attorneys’ fees according to the terms of the option contract.  Id.  The 

same rationale applies here.  Although Helix lost its right to seek its retention against 

APCO in light of the assignment (among several other reasons, like Section 3.8’s 

preconditions), it still sought such against APCO in this litigation.  By prevailing 

against Helix’s breach of contract claims (for which it sought fees against APCO in 

multiple filings), APCO is entitled to recover its attorneys’ fees under Section 18.5’s 

terms.    

B. APCO is still entitled to attorneys’ fees under Section 18.5—
irrespective of the assignment—because Helix sued APCO for pre-
assignment breaches. 

In APCO’s Opening Brief on its Cross-Appeal, APCO asserted that Helix’s 

“assignment” argument “lack[ed] any merit because Helix sued APCO for an alleged 

breach of the Subcontract that allegedly occurred during the time the Subcontract 

was in force between APCO and Helix.”  See APCO’s OB on its Cross-Appeal at 

2 The plaintiff in Oral Roberts sought a declaratory judgment that the option 
contract had expired; the defendant defended the declaratory judgment claim by 
arguing that the option contract was still enforceable.   
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56 (emphasis added).  In its Answering Brief, Helix does not dispute that it sued 

APCO for pre-assignment breaches—i.e., when the Subcontract was exclusively in 

effect between APCO and Helix.  In fact, Helix does not address its breach of 

contract claims against APCO at all.  Helix’s silence on this issue must mean that 

Helix agrees that it sued APCO for pre-assignment breaches.   

To be sure, Helix sued APCO for alleged breaches of the Subcontract that it 

alleged occurred before any assignment of the Subcontract to Gemstone and/or 

Camco as Helix’s Amended Complaint makes clear (shown in bold below):  

a.  Failing and/or refusing to pay monies owed to Helix 
for the APCO Work;  

b. Failing to adjust the APCO Agreement price to 
account for extra and/or changed work, as well as 
suspensions and delays of APCO Work caused or 
ordered by the Defendants and/or their 
representatives;  

c. Failing to promptly recognize and grant time 
extension to reflect additional time allowable under the 
APCO Agreement and permit related adjustments in 
scheduled performance;  

d. Failing and/or refusing to comply with the APCO 
Agreement and Nevada law; and 

e. Negligently or intentionally prevent, 
obstructing, hindering or interfering with Helix’s 
performance of the APCO Work. 
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JA005789–90 (Helix’s Amended Complaint ¶ 14) (emphases added).3  APCO 

necessarily had to defend against Helix’s breach of contract claims and, after years 

of litigation, prevailed.  According to the Subcontract, which governs Helix’s pre-

assignment breach of contract claims against APCO, APCO is entitled to its 

attorneys’ fees under Section 18.5: “In the event either party employs an attorney to 

initiate a lawsuit or to demand arbitration for any cause arising out of the 

Subcontract Work or the Subcontract, or any of the Contract Documents, the 

prevailing party shall be entitled to all costs, attorney’s fees and any other reasonable 

expenses incurred therein.” 35- JA002135 (Subcontract § 18.5) (emphasis added).   

It is irrelevant that the Subcontract was later assigned to Gemstone and/or 

Camco such that APCO is not the “current” party to the Subcontract for purposes of 

performance.  APCO had to defend itself against several of Helix’s breach of 

contract claims that arose out of the Subcontract Work or the Subcontract and 

concerned the pre-assignment time period when the Subcontract was in effect 

between APCO and Helix.  It would defy logic to hold that Helix could sue APCO 

3 For these specified breaches, Helix could have only sued APCO given that an 
assignee (Gemstone and/or Camco) is not liable for pre-assignment or “past” 
breaches absent an allegation that the assignee assumed liability for the assignor’s 
past breaches.  See, e.g., Rittenberg v. Donohoe Const. Co., Inc., 426 A.2d 338, 341 
(D.C. 1981) (holding that a plaintiff cannot state a cause of action against an assignee 
for breach of a lease that occurred prior to the assignment because “[a]n assignee is 
responsible only for obligations of the assignor which he contracts to undertake. If 
he has not so contracted, no action can be maintained against him.”).  
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for breaching certain provisions of the Subcontract before the assignment occurred, 

but simultaneously hold that only one provision of that Subcontract (Section 18.5) 

cannot apply because of a subsequent assignment.   

All of Helix’s cited cases (at pages 32–33 of its Answering Brief to APCO’s 

Cross-Appeal) are inapposite.  For example, Helix argues that “an assignor retains 

no rights to enforce the contract after it has been assigned.”4  Although that 

proposition is a true statement in the abstract, it does not apply to the situation here 

where APCO had to defend itself against several of Helix’s breach of contract claims 

involving conduct that occurred before any assignment.  Helix’s argument, taken to 

its logical extension, would mean that Helix could sue APCO for pre-assignment 

breaches, but APCO would have “no rights to enforce the contract” in defending 

against Helix’s claims and would similarly have “no rights” to enforce Section 18.5 

to obtain its attorneys’ fees as the prevailing party.   

Helix’s additional arguments that APCO cannot seek attorneys’ fees because 

it lacks standing to sue or is not a “real party in interest” are similarly not applicable.  

None of the cases Helix cites support the proposition that APCO cannot seek its 

attorneys’ fees under an assigned contract when it was sued for pre-assignment 

4 Helix cites Estate of Basile v. Famest, Inc., 718 So. 2d 892 (Fla. 4th DCA 
1998) for that quote, but that was likely in error because the quoted language is not 
in Estate of Basile.  Instead, Helix likely intended to cite to Lauren Kyle Holdings, 
Inc. v. Heath-Peterson Const. Corp., 864 So. 2d 55, 58 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2003), 
which itself cited (but did not quote) Estate of Basile.    
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breaches (i.e., when the Subcontract was effective between the parties).  Manko 

Holdings Ltd. v. Reno Project Management, LLC, 385 P.3d 43 (Unpublished 

Decision, Docket No. 70525, September 27, 2016) and Applied Medical 

Technologies, Inc. v. Eames, 44 P.3d 699 (Utah 2002) only hold that an assignor 

cannot affirmatively sue under the assigned contract because the assignee acquired 

that interest.  That is not the case here.  Helix sued APCO and asserted claims that 

involved conduct occurring before the assignment.5  To defend itself, APCO is able 

to enforce any of the Subcontract’s clauses—including Section 18.5’s attorneys’ fees 

provision.  As the prevailing party against Helix’s breach of contract claims, APCO 

is entitled to its attorneys’ fees under Section 18.5 of the Subcontract.   

C. The doctrine of mutuality of remedy justifies APCO’s right to 
attorneys’ fees under Section 18.5. 

Helix argues that the “equitable principle of mutuality of remedy” cannot 

apply here because “this Court has never adopted the principle of mutuality to 

require an award of attorney’s fees to a party.”   Helix’s Answering Brief to APCO’s 

Cross-Appeal at 35 (citing Trustees of Carpenters for S. Nevada Health & Welfare 

Tr. v. Better Bldg. Co., 101 Nev. 742, 747, 710 P.2d 1379, 1382 (1985)).  Trustees 

5 Again, Helix could likely only sue APCO for pre-assignment breaches 
because there is no evidence that Gemstone and/or Camco agreed to undertake 
liability for APCO’s performance before the assignment.  Rittenberg, 426 A.2d at 
341. 
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of Carpenters has no application here.  There, the court held that NRS 18.010(2) 

could not be a substitute for a unilateral attorney’s fees provision in the parties’ 

contract given that NRS 18.010(5) said that subsection 2 cannot apply where there 

is any contractual attorney’s fees provision.    Here, however, Section 18.5 is not a 

unilateral attorneys’ fees provision and no party is seeking fees under NRS 

18.010(2).  Moreover, the court never considered the equitable principle of mutuality 

of remedy.   

Helix also summarily contends without any analysis that APCO’s reliance on 

Kaintz v. PLG, Inc., 147 Wash. App. 782, 197 P.3d 710 (2008) “has no bearing on 

this action.”  Helix’s Answering Brief to APCO’s Cross-Appeal at 36.  Kaintz held 

that the principle of mutuality of remedy authorized an attorneys’ fees award where 

a party prevails in an action brought on a contract that contains a bilateral attorney 

fee clause by establishing the invalidity or unenforceability of the contract.  That 

same principle refutes Helix’s claim that only it can seek attorneys’ fees against 

APCO because APCO has no right to enforce any provision of the Subcontract as it 

was later assigned to Gemstone and/or Camco.  Given that had Helix prevailed, it 

certainly would have claimed an entitlement to fees, Kaintz’s mutuality of obligation 

principle warrants that APCO be entitled to its attorneys’ fees as well.  
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CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, APCO respectfully requests that the Court 

(1) reverse the district court’s September 27, 2018 Order partially granting APCO’s 

Motion for Attorneys’ fees, and (2) remand back to the district court with 

instructions to award APCO $447,809.28 for its reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant 

to Section 18.5 of the Subcontract.