IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Supreme Court Case No. 77320 Consolidated with Case No. 80508

<u>Electronically Filed</u> Feb 18 2021 01:14 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

HELIX ELECTRIC OF NEVADA, LLC,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

v.

APCO CONSTRUCTION, INC., A NEVADA CORPORATION,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

COMBINED ANSWERING BRIEF ON APPEAL AND OPENING BRIEF ON CROSS-APPEAL

FENNEMORE CRAIG, P.C.

John Randall Jefferies, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 3512 Christopher H. Byrd, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 1633 300 South 4th Street, 14th Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 Telephone: (702) 692-8000 Facsimile: (702) 692-8099 Email: rjeffries@fclaw.com cbyrd@fclaw.com

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

¹² In fact, even the *Zitting* court cited its earlier opinion in *Padilla Constr. Co.* of Nev. v. Big-D Constr. Corp., Docket Nos. 67397 & 68683, 2016 WL 6837851 (Order of Affirmance, Nov. 18, 2016) for the proposition that "payment never became due to the subcontractor under the subcontract or NRS 624.624(1)(a) because the owner never accepted the subcontractor's work for defectiveness and never paid the contractor for the subcontractor's work." Further, a higher-tiered contractor can withhold payment conditioned on the lower-tiered subcontractor providing lien releases, so long as the high-tiered contractor provides notice. NRS 624.624(2)(b) & (3).

is completed. *See* 3 Philip L. Bruner & Patrick J. O'Connor Jr., Bruner & O'Connor on Construction Law § 8:18 (2016 ed.) ("A common contract approach to reducing a contractee's risk that its contractor will fail to fully perform its contractual obligations is to withhold a percentage of the sums due until the work is substantially complete. This percentage is known as 'retainage.' Typical retainage amounts are 5 to 10% of the contract price.").

Helix, however, argues that because NRS 624.624 does not "expressly" authorize a retention payment to be withheld until completion of the project, conditioning retention on such implicitly violates NRS 624.624. OB at 41–42. To the contrary, NRS 624.624(2)(a)(1) *does* "authorize" a higher-tiered contractor to withhold a retention amount "pursuant to the agreement." NRS 624.624(3)(b) similarly allows a higher-tiered contractor to withhold *any* payment under terms of the parties' agreement, so long as it provides notice to the lower-tiered subcontractor regarding the reason and contractual authority to withhold payment.

In any event, Helix's argument—that every condition must be memorialized in a Nevada statute to be enforceable—would eviscerate even the simplest and most logical of conditions, such as requiring that a contractor provide receipts or invoices to list and verify the work performed. Under Helix's logic, because conditions like those do not appear in NRS 624.624, they would be void as against public policy.

36

Surely no one can reasonably dispute that requiring a subcontractor to itemize its work performed as a condition to payment does not violate Nevada law.

D. <u>APCO did not deprive Helix of the opportunity to satisfy</u> <u>Section 3.8.</u>

1. There is no evidence that APCO breached the covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

Helix claims that this Court should not enforce Section 3.8's conditions to retention because APCO breached the covenant of good faith and fair dealing by stopping work on the Project and failing to terminate Helix for convenience under Section 9.2. According to Helix, had APCO done so, Helix allegedly could have a contractual basis to recover the value of its work performed to that point, which supposedly would include its retention. OB at 43–46. The district court held that APCO acted in good faith, 84-JA006247, CL ¶ 25(a)–(d), and further held that Helix "failed to present any evidence that APCO failed to act in good faith under the Helix Subcontract or these circumstances," 85-JA006248, CL ¶ 26.

As an initial matter, Helix fails to show that the district court's decision is unsupported by substantial evidence. *See Consol. Generator-Nevada, Inc. v. Cummins Engine Co., Inc.*, 114 Nev. 1304, 1312, 971 P.2d 1251, 1256 (1998) ("good faith is a question of fact"); *Perry v. Jordan*, 111 Nev. 943, 947, 900 P.2d 335, 338 (1995) (reviewing breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing claim for substantial evidence). The district court concluded that Helix failed to present any evidence that APCO did not pay the retention amounts in bad faith. 85-JA006248, CL \P 26. Helix does not cite to any evidence in its Opening Brief to demonstrate that APCO had *not* paid the retention amounts in bad faith.¹³ As a result, this Court can affirm the district court's opinion on Helix's good faith and fair dealing claim.

Despite failing to submit any evidence of APCO's bad faith in not paying the retention amounts, Helix now argues that APCO's failure to terminate Helix *for convenience* under Section 9.2 amounts to a breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing and that this breach somehow excuses Helix's noncompliance with Section 3.8. OB at 45. According to Helix, had APCO terminated Helix under Section 9.2, Helix would have been able to "stop work, terminate its subcontracts, and submit a written termination claim." *Id.* However, Helix fails to show that even if APCO had terminated Helix for convenience, Helix would have been able to recover its retention—which is Helix's entire basis for its breach of contract claim

¹³ Effectively, Helix is trying to use the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing to renegotiate the Subcontract in a way that would allow Helix to recover its retainage before the preconditions to retention in Section 3.8 were met. The implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing cannot be wielded to rewrite the parties' agreement. *See Winshall v. Viacom Int'l, Inc.*, 76 A.3d 808, 816 (Del. 2013), as corrected (Oct. 8, 2013) ("[T]he implied covenant is not a license to rewrite contractual language just because the plaintiff failed to negotiate for protections that, in hindsight, would have made the contract a better deal.").

against APCO. In fact, the Subcontract expressly says that if APCO terminates

Helix for convenience, the *only* amounts Helix can recover are:

A. The direct cost of the work performed by [Helix] prior to termination.

B. Overhead, general, and administrative expenses (including those for any sub-subcontracts) in an amount equal to 5% of direct costs.

C. 5% percent [sic] profit of the total of the amounts allowed in paragraphs (A) and (B) above. If, however, it appears that the Subcontractor would have sustained a loss on the entire Subcontract had it been completed, no profit shall be compensated by the Contractor, and the amounts paid for the termination shall not be compensated for.

35-JA002130 (quoting Subcontract § 9.5). Consequently, even if APCO had terminated Helix for convenience, Helix has no evidence that it would have had any opportunity to recover its retention, which is the only claim at issue here.

Finally, any breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing entails performance that is contrary to the "**justified expectations** of the other [contracting] party"—not an after-the-fact, lawyer-constructed argument as to what the opposing party allegedly should have done. *Perry*, 111 Nev. at 948, 900 P.2d at 338 (emphasis added). Helix has set forth no evidence that either APCO or Helix had a justified expectation that APCO should terminate Helix for convenience if the Subcontract was assigned to another general contractor or if APCO exercised its statutory right to stop work and terminate its contract with Gemstone.

2. Helix's compliance with Section 3.8 was not futile.

Helix contends that it did not need to comply with Section 3.8 because doing so would have been futile given that APCO allegedly abandoned or repudiated the Subcontract. OB at 46–47. However, Helix did not present any evidence that APCO abandoned or repudiated the Subcontract, which is a necessary perquisite to Helix's futility argument under *Mayfield v. Koroghli*, 124 Nev. 343, 349, 184 P.3d 362, 366 (2008). *See* OB at 46. The district court concluded that APCO terminated the Contract (not the Subcontract) given Gemstone's non-payment pursuant to APCO's statutory remedy in NRS 624.610. 84-JA006217, FF ¶ 104. The district court also concluded that Helix admitted that there was an assignment and ratification of the Subcontract between Helix and the subsequent general contractor, Camco. *E.g.*, 84-JA006237–6238, FF ¶¶ 214, 219.

Helix also contends more broadly that because the Project was never completed, complying with Section 3.8's preconditions to any retention payment was futile. Not so. Many courts have upheld a project-completion condition before a contractor is entitled to retention. *E.g.*, *Pittsburg Unified Sch. Dist. v. S.J. Amoroso Constr. Co., Inc.*, 232 Cal. App. 4th 808, 824, 181 Cal. Rptr. 3d 694, 706–07 (2014) ("Unlike a progress payment or payment for extra or change order work, a contractor has no claim to retention funds until the project is completed."); *F & W Welding Serv., Inc. v. ADL Contracting Corp.*, 217 Conn. 507, 518, 587 A.2d 92, 98 (1991)

40

(upholding completed performance conditions in the parties' contract as a prerequisite to the town's obligation to pay retainage).

III. THE CONDITIONS TO RETAINAGE IN SECTION 3.8 CONTROL— EVEN IF THE APCO/GEMSTONE CONTRACT WAS TERMINATED.

Helix argues that Section 3.8 does not control because once the APCO-

Gemstone Contract was terminated, the district court erred in not applying Section

9.4 of the Subcontract, which provides:

If there has been a termination of the [APCO-Gemstone Contract], [Helix] shall be paid the amount due from [Gemstone] to [APCO] for [Helix's] completed work, as provided in the Contract Documents, after payment by [Gemstone] to [APCO].

35-JA002129. According to Helix, Section 9.4 applies to allegedly require APCO

to pay Helix's retention before APCO left the Project, even though Helix had not

met the conditions for retainage in Section 3.8. OB at 48–50. There are several

problems with Helix's argument.

First and foremost, Helix's Mr. Johnson admitted that Section 9.4 of the

Subcontract *only* applies to a termination for convenience, which did not occur here:

- Q. Would you agree with me, sir, that Articles 9.4 and 9.5 contemplate an owner's termination of the prime contract for the owner's convenience?
- A. It appears to be that.

78-JA005304. Instead, APCO terminated the Contract under its statutory rights under NRS 624.610 given Gemstone's repeated nonpayment—not a termination for

convenience whatsoever. 84-JA006217, FF \P 104. Mr. Johnson also admitted that Helix never submitted anything to APCO alleging a termination for convenience or submitted a request for payment under that section:

- Q. And Helix never submitted a claim invoking these provisions of the subcontract, did it?
- A. Not to my knowledge.

78-JA005304.

Second, even if Section 9.4 applied (it does not), Helix argues—without any support—that Section 3.8 somehow does *not* apply. Presumably Helix asserts that its retention constitutes an "amount due" under Section 9.4. See 35-JA002129 ("9.4 If there has been a termination of the [APCO-Gemstone Contract], [Helix] shall be paid the *amount due* from [Gemstone] to [APCO] for [Helix's] completed work, as provided in the Contract Documents, after payment by [Gemstone] to [APCO]." (emphasis added)). However, Nevada law instructs that the entire Subcontract—including both Sections 9.4 and 3.8—must be read "as a whole." Rd. & Highway Builders v. N. Nev. Rebar, 128 Nev. 384, 390, 284 P.3d 377, 380 (2012). In doing so, it is clear that the retention does not become due until the specific conditions in Section 3.8 have been satisfied—which all parties agree did not occur. This is true even if the Subcontract was terminated for convenience under Section 9.4. Put simply, under Section 3.8, retention was not due, so any termination is irrelevant. If Section 9.4 meant that it negated Section 3.8's conditions, it would

have needed to explicitly say so. *See id.* (requiring that the interpretation of contracts "avoid[] negating any contract provision"). Absent any indication that Section 9.4 eradicates Section 3.8's specific conditions to Helix receiving its retention, Section 3.8 governs any right to retention.

Helix also engages in a similar argument under NRS 624.610(6), arguing that because that section allows the prime contractor to recover the cost of "all" work, labor, etc. after an owner-contractor contract is terminated, Helix should therefore be able to recover its retention. OB at 49–50. Helix, however, waived this argument by never submitting it to the district court. *Dolores v. State, Employment Sec. Div.*, 134 Nev. 258, 261, 416 P.3d 259, 262 (2018) ("Issues not argued below are deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal.").

Even if Helix had not waived this argument, its reliance on NRS 624.610(6) is misplaced. Chiefly, Helix assumes that because NRS 624.610(6) gives APCO (not Helix) the ability to recover the cost of "all" work, labor. etc., Helix is therefore similarly entitled to recover the same from APCO. NRS 624.610(6), however, exclusively applies to a <u>prime</u> contractor's ability to recover amounts from the owner—not a <u>subcontractor's</u> ability to recover amounts from a contractor. The plain language of NRS 624.610(6) simply does not apply to a prime contractor-subcontractor relationship in any way.

43

Moreover, Helix assumes—again, without any support—that APCO's ability to recover the cost of "all" work, labor, etc. necessarily under NRS 624.610(6) includes retention payments.¹⁴ Yet there is no indication in the statutory text or the legislative history to show that recovering the costs of "all" work, labor, etc. inevitably includes retention. If the legislature intended to include retention, it would have said so explicitly just as it did in NRS 624.609(2). See Poole v. Nevada Auto Dealership Investments, LLC, 135 Nev. 280, 285, 449 P.3d 479, 483–484 (Nev. App. 2019) (following the statutory interpretive canon *expressio unius est exclusio* alterius, "the expression of one thing is the exclusion of another," to reason that where the legislature uses a material variation in terms, there is an intended variation in the meaning). Because the legislature did not expressly include "retention" in NRS 624.610(6), as it had in NRS 624.609(2), Helix has no authority to claim that it is entitled to its retention under NRS 624.610(6).

IV. HELIX INTENDED CAMCO TO TAKE OVER APCO'S OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE SUBCONTRACT.

As the foregoing makes clear, Helix's breach of contract claim against APCO fails because Helix did not satisfy the conditions in Section 3.8 of the Subcontract in order to be entitled to its retention. Despite this contractual bar to recovery, Helix

¹⁴ Helix's reliance on NRS 624.610(6) also overlooks the fact that this statute refers to "earned" costs. Helix did not *earn* its retention under the preconditions to retainage in Section 3.8 of the Subcontract.

takes issue with the district court's *additional* conclusion foreclosing Helix's breach of contract claim that Helix "knowingly replaced APCO with Camco under the [Subcontract] on all executory obligations, including payments for future work and retention." OB at 50 (citing 84-JA006246, CL ¶ 18).

According to Helix, it (1) "never waived its right to seek payment from APCO," and (2) "never replaced APCO with Camco for purposes of the Helix-APCO Subcontract" or "released APCO of its obligations to Helix pursuant to the Helix-APCO Subcontract." *Id.* at 51–53. Helix also asserts that the Subcontract was never assigned to Camco. The record readily belies Helix's arguments.

A. <u>Helix waived its right to seek its retention from APCO.</u>

"Waiver occurs where a party knows of an existing right and either actually intends to relinquish the right or exhibits conduct so inconsistent with an intent to enforce the right as to induce a reasonable belief that the right has been relinquished." *Hudson v. Horseshoe Club Operating Co.*, 112 Nev. 446, 457, 916 P.2d 786, 792 (1996). As Helix admits, a waiver can be express or implied and can occur through words or conduct. *Id*.

Here, the evidence demonstrates that Helix's words and conduct waived its right to seek payment from APCO by doing the following:

• Admitting that Helix entered into a ratification agreement with Camco on September 4, 2008 to continue on and complete the APCO scope of work, which included Helix Electric's Exhibit to the Ratification and

Amendment containing language confirming that APCO was removed as the general contractor, 84-JA006237–6238, FF ¶¶ 214, 219;

- **billing Camco for** *all* **of its retention amounts**—including the retention amounts incurred during Helix's tenure working under APCO, 84-JA006238–6239, FF ¶¶ 225–29;
- invoicing for and accepting progress payments directly from Camco, 84-JA006239, FF ¶¶ 228–29; and
- not having any communication with APCO and not sending any billings for work to APCO after the ratification with Camco, 84-JA006238, FF ¶¶ 223, 227.

This evidence supports the district court's factual conclusion that Helix waived its

right to seek any retention payment from APCO.

B. <u>Helix admitted that it novated the Subcontract.</u>

As a threshold matter, APCO did not need to prove a novation occurred because a novation is not exclusively necessary for the district court's conclusion that "Helix knowingly replaced APCO with Camco under the [Subcontract] on all executory obligations, including payments for future work and retention." 84-JA006246, CL ¶ 18. The district court's conclusion can be supported by Helix's waiver (discussed *supra*) and Helix's acceptance of Gemstone's assignment of the Subcontract to Camco.

In any event, judicial estoppel applies again here to demonstrate that Helix did novate¹⁵ the Subcontract to Camco. The district court's determination that Helix

¹⁵ "A novation consists of four elements: (1) there must be an existing valid contract; (2) all parties must agree to a new contract; (3) the new contract must

knowingly replaced APCO with Camco is based, in part, on Helix's own

affirmations in its filings with the court:

214. Helix admitted it entered into a ratification agreement with Camco on September 4, 2008 to continue on and complete the APCO scope of work.

• • • •

219. And although Helix has not produced a signed copy of the ratification agreement, Helix has admitted entering into its ratification and amended subcontract agreement in its complaint as follows:

18. On or about September 4, 2008, Helix entered into the Ratification and Amendment of Subcontract Agreement ("CPCC Agreement") with Camco who replaced APCO as the general contractor on the project, to continue the work for the Property ("CPCC Work").

19. Helix furnished the CPCC Work for the benefit of and at the specific instance and request of CPCC and/or Owner.

20. Pursuant to the CPCC Agreement, Helix was to be paid an amount in excess of Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00) (hereinafter "CPCC Outstanding Balance") for the CPCC Work.

21. Helix furnished the CPCC Work and has otherwise performed its duties and obligations as required by the CPCC Agreement.

22. CPCC has breached the CPCC Agreement ... CPCC breached its duty to act in good faith by performing in a manner that was unfaith to the purpose of the Ratification

extinguish the old contract; and (4) the new contract must be valid." United Fire Ins. Co. v. McClelland, 105 Nev. 504, 508, 780 P.2d 193, 195 (1989).

Agreement, thereby denying Helix's justified expectations.

Helix's Mr. Johnson admitted that Trial Exhibit 172, the Ratification Agreement, was the document that Helix referenced in its complaint (Trial Exhibit 77) as the Ratification. 84-JA006237, FF ¶¶ 214, 219. Helix's argument that it "did not execute" the Camco Ratification so it is allegedly ineffective is an about-face given that Helix clearly pleaded the opposite.

C. The Subcontract was properly assigned from APCO to Camco.

Helix asserts that because APCO terminated the Gemstone-APCO Contract under NRS 624.610 and *not* pursuant to Section 10.02 of the Gemstone-APCO Contract, the Subcontract itself could not be assigned under the Gemstone-APCO Contract. OB at 54. The terms of the Gemstone-APCO Contract reject Helix's argument. It does not require that an assignment of a third-party agreement can *only* occur after Gemstone terminates APCO for cause.¹⁶ Section 10.02 of that Contract *allows*—but does not require—Gemstone to accept the assignment of any Third-Party Agreements if Gemstone terminates APCO for cause:

10.02 Termination by Developer for Cause.

. . . .

¹⁶ Such a construction would be nonsensical as a practical matter. Under Helix's argument, Gemstone could never accept any assignment of APCO's subcontracts with its subcontractors simply because APCO terminated the Gemstone-APCO Contract first pursuant to its statutory rights.

(b) When any of the reasons set forth in Section 10.02(a) exist, Developer may without prejudice to any other rights or remedies available to Developer and after giving General Contractor seven days' written notice (in addition to the 48 hour notice for purposes of Section 10.02(a)((vi)), terminate employment of General Contractor and *may* do the following:

(ii) Accept assignment of any Third-Party Agreements pursuant to Section 10.04

29-JA001849 (emphasis added). Section 10.04 discusses the timing of an

assignment's effective date (i.e., after termination)-not that an assignment is only

effective *if* Gemstone terminated APCO for cause:

10.4 Assignment. Each Third-Party Agreement for a portion of the Work is hereby assigned by General Contractor to Developer provided that such assignment is effective **only** *after* termination of the Agreement by Developer for cause pursuant to Section 10.02 and only for those Third-Party Agreements which Developer accepts by notifying General Contractor and the applicable Third-Party Service Provider in writing.

29-JA001850 (emphasis added).

Helix further asserts that it was not given the required notice pursuant to Section 10.04 of the Gemstone-APCO Contract. OB at 54–55. The record disproves Helix's assertion. First, Helix received a letter from Gemstone to Helix confirming its intention to have Helix continue performing work under the new general contractor, Camco. *See* 48-JA002719–2730 (Letter from Gemstone's J. Griffith to Helix's Victor Fuchs regarding Gemstone's intention to continue retention of Helix with a copy of the Ratification and Amendment of Subcontract Agreement).

Helix also received Gemstone's notice of termination of APCO, received direction from and work directly with Gemstone, was copied on communications between APCO and Gemstone, and even had private meetings directly with Gemstone. *See* 78-JA005358–5360 (Testimony of Helix's Andy Rivera confirming that Helix understood that Gemstone purported to terminate the APCO Contract, that Helix was getting information directly from Gemstone, that Helix was being copied on APCO/Gemstone emails, and was getting direction directly from Gemstone); *see also* 78-JA005305–5306 (Testimony of Helix's Bob Johnson regarding Helix's private meeting with Gemstone to "represent that work was still proceeding, nothing had changed with our contracts with the current APCO relationship, and that we were to take direction for construction from Camco, and they wanted to negotiate a contract").

Lastly, Gemstone did invoke the assignment in written communication to Helix. When Gemstone hired Camco to replace APCO as the general contractor, Gemstone provided Helix with the Camco Subcontract, Camco pay applications, and directed Helix to start sending its payment applications to Camco. 84-JA006233, FF \P 200 & 84-JA006235, FF \P 203–04.

V. APCO IS NOT LIABLE FOR A DEFICIENCY JUDGMENT UNDER NRS 108.239(12) BECAUSE APCO IS NOT CONTRACTUALLY LIABLE FOR THE RETAINAGE.

NRS 108.239(12) provides:

50

Each party whose claim is not satisfied in the manner provided in this section is entitled to personal judgment for the residue against the party legally liable for it if that person has been personally summoned or has appeared in the action.

Helix contends that APCO is the "party legally liable," OB at 55–56, despite the fact that the district court held that Helix did not prevail on any of its claims (i.e., breach of contract, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and unjust enrichment) against APCO.

Helix exclusively relies on *Zitting*, 473 P.3d at 1029, where this Court held that APCO was the party legally liable to Zitting. *Zitting*, however, is entirely different from this one because there, Zitting obtained summary judgment against APCO on its breach of contract claim. Whereas here, Helix did not prevail on *any* of its claims against APCO, so APCO cannot constitute the party legally liable as a matter of law.

VI. APCO'S OFFER OF JUDGMENT UNDER NRCP 68 WAS TIMELY SO THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY AWARDED ATTORNEYS' FEES TO APCO UNDER NRCP 68.

The district court awarded APCO a portion of its requested \$447,809.28 in attorneys' fees pursuant to NRCP 68. 100-JA007281. The district court found that APCO made an offer of judgment to Helix for \$25,000 on November 13, 2017, which Helix did not accept. Helix argued that APCO's offer was untimely under NRCP 68 because it was not made 10 days before trial. Helix argued that the "trial"

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